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Killers of the Flower Moon by David Grann explores the Osage murders in 1920s Oklahoma and the FBI's
investigation into the crimes.
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23 A Case Not Closed

"A Case Not Closed" delves into the unresolved mysteries of the Osage murder cases, highlighting the
historical investigation's shortcomings and introducing new suspicions surrounding the death of W. W.
Vaughan and others. The narrator, diligently examining historical records and conducting interviews, unveils
that despite the conviction of Hale and his conspirators for some of the Osage murders, many questions
remain unanswered. Specifically, the responsibility for the murder of Vaughan and others outside Hale's
immediate circle was never established, suggesting that others involved were never apprehended.

In Oklahoma City, the narrator meets with Martha Vaughan, W. W. Vaughan's granddaughter, who, along
with her cousin Melville, shares extensive family research on Vaughan's murder. This research points to a
potential conspiracy and cover-up regarding Vaughan's death, previously thought to be the work of Hale's
criminal network. The narrator's investigation then pivots towards H. G. Burt, a man with suspicious
financial dealings and a close relationship with Hale, raising the possibility of his involvement in Vaughan's
death.

Through meticulous examination of legal documents, interviews, and archival records, the narrative uncovers
Burt's questionable financial transactions and relationships within the Osage community. Burt's role as the
guardian of George Bigheart's daughter, coupled with his suspicious activities before and after Bigheart and
Vaughan's deaths, positions him as a central figure in the larger conspiracy surrounding the Osage murders.

As the chapter progresses, evidence mounts against Burt, implicating him further in these crimes. An
informant's testimony and newspaper articles suggest Burt's presence and possibly direct involvement in
Vaughan's murder. However, the true depth of his involvement and the extent of the conspiracy remain
shrouded in mystery due to the passage of time and the lack of conclusive evidence.

Concluding the chapter, the narrator grapples with the ethical considerations of implicating Burt in the
murders without definitive proof. Despite the compelling circumstantial evidence, the chapter closes on a
note of uncertainty, reflecting the complexities of historical investigations and the challenge of achieving
justice for the Osage murders.



25 The Lost Manuscript

In June 2015, visiting the Osage Nation at Kathryn Red Corn's insistence, I observed a sprawling windmill
farm across the prairie west of Pawhuska, Oklahoma. Dominated by towering wind turbines, this new energy
installation spanned over eight thousand acres, intended to power tens of thousands of homes but stirring
controversy among the Osage. Over a century after the discovery of oil beneath their land, the Osage faced
another challenge to their sovereignty. The federal government, on behalf of the Osage, sued Enel, the Italian
firm behind the wind farm, for violating their rights under the 1906 Allotment Act by not obtaining
permission for excavation work essential for the turbines' foundations. Despite a court ruling favoring
Enel—on grounds that it wasn't engaging in mineral extraction and thus didn't infringe on Osage mineral
rights—tensions remained, highlighting ongoing disputes over underground reservations.

Simultaneously, stringent 2014 environmental regulations imposed on oil drilling significantly diminished
new explorations in Osage County, marking a historic low in drilling activities and impacting the local
economy.

Amid these contemporary issues, my research into historical Osage murders led to a significant discovery at
the Pawhuska public library: a manuscript detailing the 1918 murder of Mary Lewis by Thomas Middleton, a
betrayal for financial gain rooted in Osage headrights. This account, assembled by Anna Marie Jefferson,
Lewis’s descendant, revived a forgotten story of deceit, murder, and injustice, where Lewis, a prosperous
Osage, was lured to Texas and killed by Middleton and an accomplice, aiming to cash in on her wealth
through a gruesome scheme involving impersonation and deceit. Despite a confession leading to Middleton's
conviction, his death sentence was commuted, and he was released early on, a decision that deeply angered
Lewis's family.

This revelation broadened the historical context of the Osage murders, suggesting that such atrocities
predated the widely recognized Reign of Terror initiated by William Hale in 1921 and persisted longer than
previously documented. This chilling narrative underscored the broader and more systemic exploitation and
murder of the Osage people for their valuable headrights, extending beyond Hale’s infamous conspiracies.

6 Million Dollar Elm

Chapter 6 of the book, titled "Million Dollar Elm," sketches a vivid scene of the Osage oil boom in
Pawhuska, highlighted by the elite auction of oil leases under the eponymous Million Dollar Elm tree. This
tale intricately weaves the grandiosity and avarice of the early 20th-century American oil industry, centered
around the affluent Osage Nation and the affluent, yet often morally ambiguous, oil barons.

The chapter starts with the arrival of oil magnates such as E. W. Marland, Bill Skelly, and Harry Sinclair to
Pawhuska, amid much public fanfare and anticipation. These auctions, managed by the Department of the
Interior, attracted crowds from across the nation, epitomizing the "Osage Monte Carlo" phenomenon. The
auctioneer, Colonel Ellsworth E. Walters, is depicted as a seasoned ringmaster, coaxing hefty sums from the
pockets of hopeful and seasoned oilmen alike.

The chapter adeptly captures the contrasting fates tied to the auctions: fortunes made with a single nod and
others lost in failed ventures. Yet, as the oilmen strategize and vie for lucrative leases, the narrative also turns
to the broader impacts of the oil wealth — not just on the magnates themselves but on the Osage Nation and
the bustling community shaping around them. The rich and colorful tapestry of Pawhuska's transformation,
from a mere prairie to a beacon of booming commerce, is richly detailed.



The climate of the time is artfully described through tales of wealth, extravagance, and the eventual scrutiny
of the Osage wealth by envious white Americans and the government. The cultural and societal complexities
are captured through the lens of the Osage, who were subjected to a paternalistic guardianship system, and
the lavish lifestyles of the oil barons, juxtaposing the American ideal of prosperity with its underlying
inequities and prejudices.

Colonel Walters’ auctions under the Million Dollar Elm thus symbolize not only the zenith of the Osage oil
wealth but also a microcosm of early 20th-century American society, marked by its ambitions, excesses, and
the inevitable reckoning with its own moral and ethical compass. Through detailed accounts of bidding wars,
personal triumphs, and societal critiques, the chapter sketches a nuanced portrait of a pivotal era in American
history.

14 Dying Words

In September 1925, White pursued the secrets William Hale and his nephews were hiding, considering Bill
Smith, Mollie Burkhart’s brother-in-law, might have uncovered them. Smith, suspecting a conspiracy linked
to their oil wealth and potential poisoning of their relative, Lizzie, could have been killed for his findings.
After Smith's tragic death from a house explosion, a nurse mentioned Smith's feverish mutterings and his
cautious behavior, suggesting a fear of having disclosed critical information unintentionally.

Smith had a private conversation with his doctors, James and David Shoun, and a lawyer, where he might
have identified his assailants. Despite their initial denials, it eventually emerged that Smith had named
William K. Hale, "the King of the Osage Hills," and Ernest Burkhart as his only enemies. This revelation was
significant, given the well-documented corruption and exploitation surrounding the Osage oil fortune. The
Shoun brothers, closely connected to Hale and Burkhart, orchestrated a meeting with Smith not for his
testimony but to secure control over his wife Rita’s lucrative estate.

White's investigation revealed endemic corruption in the management of Osage estates, with guardianship
positions being sought after for their potential for graft. Not only were these positions often awarded to
notable white citizens, including businessmen, lawyers, and even law enforcement officials, but they also
facilitated and covered up extensive theft from the Osage. It was a systematic plundering, with guardians
inflating prices, steering business for kickbacks, and outright stealing from the estates they were meant to
protect. A government study estimated a theft of at least $8 million from Osage accounts before 1925.

The manipulation extended beyond guardians, involving a network of local politicians, traders, and lawyers
preying on the Osage. This "Indian business" was an organized criminal operation that had penetrated all
levels of society aimed at the Osage's wealth. The exploitation was so rampant that it prompted investigations
documenting the wholesale robbery and detailing horrifying abuses, including the case of a widow left
penniless and her child dying due to withheld funds. The Osage community was painfully aware of these
schemes, yet they had little power to combat the deeply ingrained corruption, with guardianships becoming
rewards for political loyalty and the root of widespread injustice.

18 The State of the Game

In the late 1920s, White and Agent Frank Smith delve into solving the Osage murders, gaining a
breakthrough via a prisoner named Burt Lawson, who claimed knowledge about the crimes. White,
employing strategic interrogative tactics, uncovers a plot led by William K. Hale, involving paid murders
among the Osage, exploiting for wealth. Lawson, initially orchestrated as the perpetrator behind Bill Smith's
house explosion, later admits fabrication, steering the investigation towards true criminal orchestrations by
Hale.



Hale, a man of considerable influence and cunning, had designed a murderous scheme to usurp the Osage
wealth through familial manipulation and lethal force, coercing various individuals into executing his plans,
including the murder of the Smiths, Henry Roan, and others. Ernest Burkhart, Hale’s nephew and a central
figure, reluctantly unfolds the layers of Hale’s plots under pressure from White's relentless investigation.

The narrative unfolds revealing the complexity of human greed and deception interwoven with the
vulnerability of the Osage community. The investigators' pursuit of justice is met with challenges,
manipulative conspiracies, and the daunting task of penetrating a deeply ingrained network of deceit.

White and his team, through perseverance, manage to extract confessions and piece together evidence
implicating Hale and his accomplices in the orchestrated murders. The chapter highlights a significant turn in
the investigative process, marking a moment of revelation and the unraveling of Hale's machinations, setting
the stage for subsequent legal and moral reckonings.

3 King of the Osage Hills

fetched away. Her death further destabilized the Burkhart family, emphasizing the cruel reach of the killings
that gripped Osage County. The oil fortune, which had been a source of rapid and transformative wealth for
the Osage, now seemed cursed. The murders of Anna Brown and Charles Whitehorn had laid bare the
dangers that the wealth attracted—dangers that had become personal for Mollie and her family.

In response to these tragedies, Mollie became a pivotal figure in seeking justice. She navigated between the
Osage community's growing mistrust and the local authorities' apathy towards the crimes against her people.
With both victims being wealthy Osage members, speculation arose about a serial murderer targeting the
Osage for their riches, echoing fears of a predator akin to Dr. H. H. Holmes. However, the murder
investigations revealed the pervasive racism that devalued Osage lives, with officials quick to dismiss these
deaths as inconsequential.

Mollie appealed to William Hale, a powerful local figure known as the "King of the Osage Hills," for
assistance. Hale, a man who had risen from destitution to significant wealth and influence, had a complex
relationship with the Osage community. He appeared as a benefactor, deeply entwined in the economic and
social fabrics of Osage County. Yet, his involvement in the murder investigations, despite his lack of formal
authority, highlighted the blurred lines between justice, power, and community trust in the rapidly changing
society of Osage County.

As the search for Anna’s killer continued, suspicious eyes turned to various potential culprits, including
Anna's ex-husband and the murky underworld figures that populated the county, enriched and emboldened by
the oil boom and Prohibition. Yet, accusations and theories failed to coalesce into substantial evidence,
leading to a cycle of arrest and release that underscored the inefficiency and corruption that plagued the law
enforcement efforts.

The official closure of the investigations, with the deaths attributed to unknown assailants, signaled a
devastating failure of justice for the Osage community and particularly for Mollie, who, in the wake of her
mother Lizzie's death, faced the personal toll of these crimes. The murders of Anna Brown and Charles
Whitehorn exposed the dark intersections of wealth, race, and power in early 20th century America,
encapsulating the tragedy and turmoil that defined this period for the Osage Nation.

11 The Third Man



In Chapter 11, titled "The Third Man", the narrative delves into the intricate ongoing investigation of the
Osage murders, with a specific focus on the insistent and rigorous efforts of Hoover and Agent White.
Hoover, driven by the criticism he's receiving in Oklahoma and his own investigative inclinations, throws
himself into the case despite his usual aversion to fieldwork. His eye catches on a potential lead through
Necia Kenny, a white woman married to an Osage man, who implicates A. W. Comstock, a guardian to
several Osage, in the conspiracy. Despite her mental instability, Hoover values Kenny's leads, suggesting a
complex mesh of suspicions and investigations embodying the Bureau's efforts.

Agent White, meanwhile, navigates a thickening plot surrounding Bryan Burkhart, brother-in-law to Mollie,
one of the victims. Initially appearing to have an alibi for the time Anna Brown was murdered, the narrative
expands into a tale of deceit, as White learns that Bryan's alibi might not be as solid as previously thought.
Through diligent investigative work, involving cross-state travel and interviews with people once close to the
suspects, White uncovers discrepancies and hidden facets of the case; from Bryan's purportedly innocent
whereabouts on the night of Anna's disappearance to his sighting with Anna by multiple witnesses at
different locales, suggesting a sinister revisitation of the crime scene.

Hoover's emphasis on using Kenny's inside information, despite her unreliability, and White's persistent,
methodical deconstruction of alibis and witness statements illustrate the Bureau's desperate attempt to
unravel the convoluted skein of murder, betrayal, and conspiracy enveloping the Osage community. The
chapter masterfully weaves a narrative of dogged investigation against the backdrop of a community ravaged
by greed and murder, with the FBI agents navigating the treacherous waters of trust, lies, and secrets to bring
justice to the fore. The revelation that Bryan was seen with Anna and an unidentified "third man" propels the
investigation into new, uncharted territory, highlighting the layers of complexity and obstruction woven into
the fabric of the case.

4 Underground Reservation

The chapter titled "UNDERGROUND RESERVATION" delineates the complex history and the
transformative journey of the Osage people, from their ancestral dominion over vast tracts of the central
United States to their coerced migration and the subsequent discovery of oil on their reservation land,
profoundly altering their destiny.

In the 17th century, the Osage claimed extensive territories, which were later encroached upon following the
Louisiana Purchase. Thomas Jefferson's interactions with the Osage in 1804 were initially diplomatic, but the
tribe was soon forced to cede large portions of their land, leading to their relocation to a reservation in
southeastern Kansas. The chapter vividly recounts the Osage lifestyle, characterized by buffalo hunts and the
profound spiritual and communal life they led, which was later disrupted by settlers and the demand for their
Kansas lands.

Driven to find a new homeland, the Osage purchased land in Oklahoma, seen as undesirable by whites, which
serendipitously sat atop vast oil deposits. This newly acquired land, deemed worthless by settlers, became the
cornerstone of the Osage’s future wealth due to the oil underneath it—a twist of fate that led to the creation
of the first "underground reservation."

Mollie, a central figure in the narrative, experiences the Osage's transition from wealth due to oil discovery,
juxtaposed with the erosion of their traditional ways of life. Detailed are the cultural shifts Mollie's family
undergoes – from the proud heritage of her father, Ne-kah-e-se-y (later known as Jimmy), and their
integration into an increasingly encroaching white society. The Osage's struggle to retain their identity while
navigating the newfound wealth and the pressures of assimilation into American society is detailed through
Mollie's experiences and the broader impacts on the Osage people.



The chapter outlines historical injustices, such as forced land cessions and the imposition of allotment
policies aimed at assimilating the Native Americans into white culture. It also highlights strategic
maneuvering by the Osage, such as securing mineral rights during land allotments which inadvertently led to
great prosperity from oil, altering their socio-economic status significantly.

In conclusion, the chapter encapsulates a pivotal moment in Osage history, marked by profound loss,
resilience, and an unexpected rise to wealth through oil. It presents a microcosm of larger themes of
colonization, cultural assimilation, and the transformative impact of natural resources on indigenous
communities.
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9 The Undercover Cowboys

In July 1925, the new head of the Oklahoma City field office, White, delved into the unsolved Osage
murders, facing a daunting task due to the time elapsed and the randomness of the crime details. With
numerous victims over the years, including Anna Brown and the Smith family, the motives appeared
complex, pointing towards a conspiracy rather than the act of a single murderer. The richness of the Osage
and the familial connections among some victims suggested targeted killings. White noticed the
investigation's prior flaws: reliance on dubious sources and a lack of solid, admissible evidence.

Determined to break the cycle of incompetence, White set out to reconstruct a solid case through an
"unbroken chain of evidence." Recognizing he couldn't do it alone amid the vast number of murders and
leads, and acknowledging the stonewalling from potential witnesses due to fear, corruption, or prejudice,
White opted for undercover operations. He planned to be the investigation's public face, while his agents,
primarily experienced "Cowboys" familiar with danger and skilled in blending in, would work in the
shadows.

White meticulously selected his team, excluding his brother to avoid risking their family further. His recruits
included a versatile former sheriff, a daring ex-Texas Ranger, a seasoned yet nondescript deep-cover
operative, and John Burger, an agent familiar with the case. Alongside them, White added Frank Smith,
known for his adventurous spirit but seen as "uneducated" within the bureau, and John Wren, a unique asset
as possibly the only American Indian agent, reinstated despite his disdain for paperwork, for his insightful
and sensitive approach to Indian affairs.

This new squad, blending experience with diverse skills and backgrounds, was tasked with navigating a
complex landscape of corruption, fear, and prejudice to unravel the conspiracy behind the Osage murders,
meticulously differentiating hearsay from hard evidence to build a undeniable case.

8 Department of Easy Virtue

In the summer of 1925, Tom White, a special agent in the Bureau of Investigation, received an urgent
summons from J. Edgar Hoover to come to Washington, D.C. Hoover, the new director, demanded a personal
meeting. White, an old-style lawman with a background as a Texas Ranger and a knack for eschewing
conventional law enforcement attire, was an embodiment of the fading age of frontier justice. His sense of
duty mixed with a defiance of modern constraints sent him on a journey to face his fate and possibly the



greatest challenge of his career.

White’s career spanned a transition in law enforcement from the days of rifle-toting horseback pursuits to the
early stages of a federal policing body that dealt with a broader and more nuanced range of crimes. Despite a
lack of formal training and an initial hesitance towards modern criminal investigation techniques, White
excelled in his role due to his innate investigative skills and a principled approach to justice. His tenure at the
Bureau began amidst a period of turmoil and scandal within the U.S. Department of Justice, which had
become known derisively as the Department of Easy Virtue due to widespread corruption.

The appointment of Hoover marked a pivotal shift in the bureau’s direction, with an emphasis on
professionalization and reform aimed at eradicating the corrupt practices that had plagued its operations.
White himself had exemplified the potential for integrity and effective law enforcement within the bureau
through his successful undercover work as a warden in the Atlanta penitentiary, which led to significant
reforms and accolades from Hoover.

Upon arriving at bureau headquarters, White’s stature and reputation as a formidable lawman from a bygone
era contrasted sharply with Hoover’s modern, bureaucratic approach to crime-fighting. Hoover, facing the
challenge of distancing the bureau from its scandal-ridden past, revealed to White the urgent need to address
the ongoing investigation into the murders of the Osage—a case that had remained unsolved and had erupted
into a scandal due to mismanagement and potential corruption within the bureau itself.

The Osage murder investigation, marked by a series of failures, reflected the broader challenges facing the
bureau during a time of transition. Hoover, keen on preserving his leadership and the bureau’s credibility,
chose White for his proven track record of integrity and effectiveness. White’s new assignment not only
represented a critical moment for the future of the bureau but also showcased the clash between the old guard
of American lawmen and the evolving nature of federal law enforcement in the early 20th century.

16 For the Betterment of the Bureau

Chapter 16 titled "For the Betterment of the Bureau" highlights the evolving efforts of Tom White and his
team under the oversight of J. Edgar Hoover in transforming the Bureau of Investigation amid challenges of
political corruption and organized crime. White's leadership marked a period of notable progress in the
investigation of Mollie Burkhart’s family’s murders and the broader crime environment affecting the Osage
Indian community, albeit hampered by a lack of direct evidence against the prime suspect, William Hale, and
his extensive influence over local authorities.

The narrative delves into the systemic corruption in Ponca City and Fairfax, illustrating how deeply Hale's
tendrils of control extended into law enforcement and political spheres. Despite the obstacles, White
remained determined, reflecting the Bureau's larger struggle against entrenched criminal networks and
corrupt officials.

Hoover's ambitions for the Bureau to exemplify new investigative standards, influenced by Progressive ideals
of efficiency and technocratic administration, are extensively portrayed. Hoover sought to rid the Bureau of
corruption and inefficiency, adopting stringent operational measures and performance evaluations. He
emphasized a scientific approach to policing, centralizing authority, and promoting a national rather than
local law enforcement ethos. Hoover's obsession with discipline and order is shown through his rigorous
demands on agents' conduct, underscored by his implementation of a comprehensive policy manual and
sophisticated data classification systems for case management.

This chapter also contrasts the managerial styles of Hoover and White, with Hoover depicted as
uncompromising and sometimes punitive, while White is shown to exercise a more understanding and
supportive approach to leadership within the constraints of Hoover's directives. Despite occasional conflicts



with Hoover's methods, White values his role in the bureau, adapting to the evolving standards of “scientific
policing” and making significant contributions to its operation and reputation.

The chapter critically examines the societal and political context of the era, touching on the dark side of
Progressivism, including prejudices and disdain for democratic procedures among its adherents, mirroring
some of Hoover's "darkest impulses." Overall, the narrative captures a period of transformation and challenge
within the Bureau of Investigation, framed by wider themes of corruption, reform, and the pursuit of justice.

26 Blood Cries Out

In Chapter 26 titled "Blood Cries Out," the investigation into the Osage Indian murders during the Reign of
Terror progresses as the narrator delves deeper into the archives in Fort Worth. Sifting through musty boxes
and files, the narrator uncovers a fabric-covered logbook from the Office of Indian Affairs that lists guardians
and their Osage wards. Many of these wards were marked as "dead," revealing a pattern of suspicious
mortality rates far beyond natural causes, with guardians listed beside multiple deceased wards.

Among the names, H. G. Burt and Scott Mathis surface as guardians linked to multiple deaths, including
known murders. As the investigation broadens, a staggering number of Osages under guardianship were
found dead, hinting at widespread, systematic murder. FBI records and personal testimonies corroborate
suspicions of poisoning and neglect, painting a grim picture of exploitation and homicide.

The chapter also explores individual cases that contribute to the narrative of orchestrated violence against the
Osage for financial gain. Among them, the disturbing account of Marvin Stepson, whose grandparents were
victims of this sinister plot, reflects not only on the immediate trauma but the generational impact of these
crimes. Despite the FBI closing the case with the arrest of Hale and his associates, many murders remained
unsolved, and a culture of silence and complicity hindered justice.

Investigations by descendants like Dennis McAuliffe Jr. and Mary Jo Webb highlight the enduring quest for
truth, despite the destruction of evidence and the obfuscation of facts by those involved. The narrative reveals
a community scarred by violence, with many still seeking closure from a reign of terror that left deep wounds
in the Osage Nation. The chapter concludes on a note of unresolved grief and the complexities of achieving
justice in the face of a systemic conspiracy that reached into every corner of society.

5 The Devil’s Disciples

Chapter 5: **THE DEVIL’S DISCIPLES**

In 1921, amidst the ongoing murders of the Osage Indians for their oil wealth, Mollie’s desperation grew as
the authorities remained indifferent even after her sister, Lizzie’s, death was suspected to be due to
poisoning. The family offered a $2,000 reward for information, hoping to ignite some action. William Hale, a
prominent figure advocating against the criminal element in Osage County, also offered a reward,
emphasizing the need to halt the sinister deeds.

Adding to the complexity, Oklahoma’s law enforcement was accused of incompetence and corruption,
leading Hale to employ a private detective, Pike, reflecting the era’s reliance on private agencies to
compensate for the inadequate public justice system. However, despite the glamorization of detectives in
literature, their real-life methods and the moral ambiguity of their profession often drew criticism.

Pike, with his secretive and meticulous approach, delved into the mysterious deaths, including that of Anna
Brown, Mollie’s sister. Anna and others had become victims under suspicious circumstances, suggesting a



pattern of targeting the Osage for their wealth, particularly under the guise of guardianship—a system forcing
many Osage to have white overseers for their finances due to presumed incompetence.

The investigation expanded with various detectives and informants exploring leads, including allegations
against Rose Osage for jealousy-driven murder and sinister tales of betrayal within the community. Yet, the
probe encountered dead ends, misinformation, and the daunting realization of conspiracy and cover-up.

The narrative also introduces Bill Smith, Rita’s husband, whose murky past and violent tendencies added
layers of suspicion. Despite the intricate web of secrets and lies, some investigative paths led to chilling
discoveries, like the last movements of Anna Brown, hinting at deeper personal tragedies intertwined with
the murders.

As more Osage died under mysterious circumstances, including poisonings, the community’s desperation led
to Barney McBride's mission to Washington, D.C., seeking federal intervention. However, McBride’s brutal
murder underscored the far-reaching menace shadowing those who dared to confront the murders—hinting at
a conspiracy so profound that it reached beyond Osage County’s borders.

This chapter encapsulates the desperation, fear, and determination of the Osage and their allies, entangled in
a grim battle against a hidden enemy, willing to murder for wealth and power, rendering the detectives as
both crucial yet deeply flawed avengers in a lawless epoch.

10 Eliminating the Impossible

Chapter 10 of the book delves into the meticulous operation led by White to infiltrate Osage County with
undercover agents, each assuming a covert identity to penetrate the community and gather intelligence on the
series of crimes plaguing the area. The operatives - a former sheriff posing as a cattleman from Texas, a
garrulous ex-Texas Ranger, a past insurance salesman now operating in Fairfax, and Agent Wren appearing
as an Indian medicine man - embed themselves within different sectors of the society to cast a wide net for
clues. These characters meticulously maintain their covers, engaging with the locals, including the influential
William Hale and unsuspecting Osage members, to unearth leads without arousing suspicion.

White's investigation hits a series of obstacles from the onset, with crucial records missing and tangible
evidence from crime scenes either vanished or tampered with. The discovery of Anna Brown's skull,
however, provides a grim but vital piece of evidence, revealing the likely caliber of the weapon used and
raising suspicions about the alteration of the crime scene, possibly by insiders. White, guided by the principle
of eliminating the impossible to uncover the truth, dives into corroborating alibis of suspects previously
entangled in the web of deceit surrounding Anna's murder.

Agent Burger, previously embedded in the investigation, becomes a crucial ally, offering insights that help
White sift through the maze of hearsay and dead ends. Their collaborative effort begins to shine a light on
dubious alibis and potential suspects, including discrediting the allegations against Anna’s ex-husband, Oda
Brown, and scrutinizing the violent Rose Osage and her companion Joe Allen for inconsistencies in their
stories.

In a strategic move to penetrate deeper into the conspiracy, Agent Burger secures the cooperation of Kelsie
Morrison, a nefarious character with intimate connections within the suspect pool, by striking a deal to
eliminate a warrant against Morrison in exchange for information. Despite the inherent risk of Morrison’s
potential unreliability or betrayal, detailed measures are taken to ensure his traceability, including the archaic
Bertillonage technique and fingerprinting, underscoring the blend of early forensic science and raw detective
work driving the investigation.

This chapter not only highlights the complexity of the Osage murder cases but also underlines the lengths to
which the investigators are willing to go, employing both innovative and orthodox methods, to peel away the



layers of corruption and deceit shielding the truth. The narrative steadily builds a vivid tableau of the
intertwining lives within this fraught community, setting the stage for further revelations and the pursuit of
justice.

15 The Hidden Face

In "The Hidden Face," the chapter dives into the investigation led by an undercover operative masquerading
as an insurance salesman, which uncovers disturbing revelations in Fairfax about William Hale's
manipulations and schemes. The operative learns from a local woman how Hale commanded his workers to
set his own land on fire to claim $30,000 in insurance money. The narrative then shifts to Hale's dubious
involvement in the life insurance policy of Henry Roan, who was mysteriously murdered in 1923, revealing
Hale's apparent motive linked to a $25,000 life-insurance policy where he was named the beneficiary.

As the investigation unfolds, the chapter details the process Hale went through to ensure he could claim the
life insurance, exploiting loopholes and pressuring various individuals, including an insurance salesman and
local doctors, to facilitate his plan despite Roan's known health and lifestyle risks. Furthermore, it exposes
Hale's attempt to masquerade the indebtedness of Roan to substantiate his stake in Roan's life insurance,
employing forgery and manipulation to secure the policy worth $25,000, a sum suspiciously identical to the
alleged debt.

The chapter also explores the burgeoning field of forensic document analysis, highlighting its application in
scrutinizing the credibility of the creditor's note presented by Hale, which was instrumental in procuring the
life insurance on Roan. This scrutiny reveals tampering with the document, further implicating Hale in
fraudulent activities.

The narrative connects Hale’s unscrupulous actions to a larger, sinister objective: the acquisition of valuable
Osage headrights through a series of orchestrated murders, ultimately benefiting from the inheritance laws
that directed wealth towards Hale’s control via his nephew, Ernest Burkhart, married to Mollie Burkhart, an
Osage woman. This manipulative scheme lays bare not only the extent of Hale's ambition and ruthlessness
but also the intricate planning involved in exploiting and murdering members of the Osage community to
gain access to their oil-rich lands.

The chapter concludes by painting a grim and complex picture of Hale’s machinations, involving deceit,
financial manipulation, and murder, highlighting the lengths to which he would go to augment his wealth and
power at the expense of the Osage people. It underscores the chilling efficiency of Hale's plots and the
devastating impact on the victims' families, particularly through the lens of Mollie and Ernest's marriage,
which was entangled in these malevolent schemes.

13 A Hangman’s Son

Chapter 13 of the book introduces us to Tom White, whose early life was deeply intertwined with law
enforcement, shaped significantly by his father, Robert Emmett "Emmett" White, elected sheriff of Travis
County, Texas, in 1888. The narrative transports us back to Austin in the late 19th century, painting a vivid
picture of a burgeoning city grappling with crime and justice, as seen through the eyes of young Tom. The
chapter meticulously recounts the hardships and adversities faced by the White family, providing a detailed
account of Emmett's tenure as sheriff, his dedication to justice, and the moral and ethical dilemmas that came
with it.

Emmett White emerged as a diligent and humane law enforcement officer who sought to curb extrajudicial
lynchings and showed compassion towards prisoners, a stance that profoundly impacted Tom. The narrative



delves into various incidents, including a harrowing jail riot and the moral complexities surrounding
executions, specifically the execution of Ed Nichols, which left a lasting impression on Tom. The chapter
also explores Tom's venture into law enforcement, following his father’s footsteps into the Texas Rangers,
and highlights his internal struggles with the violent aspects of the job, his relationship with Bessie Patterson,
and his eventual transition to a railroad detective and then a special agent of the Bureau of Investigation.

Through Tom's journey, the chapter explores themes of justice, morality, and the heavy toll law enforcement
work exacts on those who serve. It encapsulates the transformation of central Texas and the evolution of the
American legal system, seen through the generational saga of the White family, while showcasing the
complexities of balancing duty, personal morality, and the harsh realities of law and order in a changing
America. The narrative is rich with historical context, offering insights into the societal and familial pressures
that shaped the characters' lives and the broader implications of their actions on the community and the fabric
of early 20th-century American society.

Selected Bibliography

This text is a comprehensive selected bibliography section of a book, rather than a traditional narrative
chapter. It lists a wide range of publications covering various topics related to American history, law
enforcement, indigenous peoples, the oil industry, and biographies of significant figures such as J. Edgar
Hoover. The bibliography encompasses scholarly works, biographies, historical narratives, and reports,
indicating the book potentially deals with subjects like the Osage Indian murders, the role of the FBI and law
enforcement in American history, the oil industry's impact on society and the environment, and the
sociopolitical dynamics involving Native American tribes.

Given the diverse range of topics covered by the cited works, it's evident that the book aims to provide a
thorough exploration of these subjects, likely blending historical analysis with detailed case studies. The
bibliography suggests an in-depth investigation into specific historical events, such as the Teapot Dome
scandal, the Osage Indian murders, and the development of the FBI, while also touching on broader themes
like American capitalism, the exploitation of natural resources, and the evolution of criminal justice and
forensic science.

The references to publications like "The Osage People" by W. David Baird, "Public Enemies" by Bryan
Burrough, and "The Day Wall Street Exploded" by Beverly Gage imply a narrative that may examine the
intersection of criminal activities, political corruption, and the struggle for justice and civil liberties.
Furthermore, titles such as "The World’s Richest Indian: The Scandal over Jackson Barnett’s Oil Fortune" by
Tanis C. Thorne and "Oil! Titan of the Southwest" by Carl Coke Rister suggest a significant focus on the
economic and social ramifications of the oil industry, particularly concerning Native American lands and
communities.

In conclusion, this bibliography indicates a book rich in historical detail and analysis, covering a broad
spectrum of American societal, economic, and political developments from the late 19th to the mid-20th
century, with a significant focus on law enforcement, indigenous peoples' rights and challenges, and the
influential oil industry.

1 The Vanishing

**THE VANISHING - Summary**

In the breathtaking landscapes of the Osage territory of Oklahoma, nature's cycle unfolds with vibrant
flowers blossoming under the Spring's sun, only to be overshadowed by taller plants in May, a period the



Osage Indians ominously call the time of the flower-killing moon. Amidst this cyclical beauty and decay,
Mollie Burkhart of Gray Horse feels an unsettling premonition when her sister Anna Brown disappears.
Anna, known for her spontaneous adventures into the night, fails to return home this time, plunging Mollie
into deep concern, especially since their sister Minnie’s death had left an unhealed wound.

The Osage people, enriched by the discovery of vast oil reserves beneath their resettled lands in Oklahoma,
have transformed from forced displacement to possessing considerable wealth, drawing nationwide attention
and envy. Yet, this prosperity does not shield them from the complexities and dangers of their world,
embodying a stark contrast between modernity and tradition, wealth and identity.

Tension rises as Anna's absence stretches over days, leaving Mollie desperate for answers. Anna's life, filled
with turmoil and recent divorce, had been increasingly erratic, capturing the chaotic essence of boomtowns
like Whizbang, where laws and morals blur. Mollie’s marriage to Ernest Burkhart, a union crossing cultural
divides, brings its own challenges amidst societal prejudices but also represents a deep, mutual commitment.

The discovery of Charles Whitehorn’s body, another missing Osage, intensifies the mystery and fear gripping
the community. When a decomposed body found near Three Mile Creek is reluctantly identified as Anna,
due to her recognizable gold fillings, the Burkhart and Smith families face a grim reality. The loss of Anna,
marked by the tragic confirmation amid an unsettling scene, epitomizes the broader perils looming over the
Osage, a people navigating a fragile balance amid immense wealth and encroaching threats. This chapter
weaves a narrative of contrast and tragedy, encapsulating the beauty of the Osage lands against the backdrop
of personal loss and a community's looming dread.

7 This Thing of Darkness

In early February 1923, amidst violently cold weather in Fairfax, two men discovered a vehicle in a rocky
area, which upon investigation by authorities, was found to contain the mummified corpse of Henry Roan, a
forty-year-old Osage Indian, murdered by a gunshot. Henry, once married to Mollie and known to Hale as a
close friend, had recently faced personal turmoil including his wife's affair and financial difficulties. Mollie,
deeply affected by the murder yet silent about her past with Henry for fear of her current husband Ernest's
reaction, faced increasing dread as the murders continued, now including Roan and sparking fear within the
community. The Osage Tribal Council sought federal investigation support, highlighting the ineffectiveness
of local efforts to address the continuing violence.

The situation escalated with the bombing of Bill and Rita Smith's home, killing Rita and their servant Nettie
instantly, while Bill, severely injured, died days later. This tragic event represented a series of aggressive
attacks aimed at the Osage community, contributing to an atmosphere of terror and suspicion. Governor
Walton's involvement and subsequent removal highlighted the deep corruption impeding the resolution of
these crimes. As the federal government finally began to take notice, Mollie withdrew, haunted by the
murders and the toll on her health and family, reflecting the profound impact of the Osage murders on the
victims' families and the community at large, illustrating a dark period of exploitation and violence against
the Osage Indian tribe.

The involvement of various individuals, including W. W. Vaughan's murder after attempting to unveil crucial
information regarding the killings, paints a harrowing picture of lawlessness and corruption. The collective
fear among the Osage, manifest in the installation of "fraid lights" and the palpable tension within the
community, underscores the desperation for justice amidst a seemingly endless series of brutal acts. The
chapter depicts a community under siege, grasping for hope as they navigate through this distressing epoch of
their history, calling into question the very foundations of justice and civil order in the face of insidious greed
and betrayal.

21 The Hot House



The chapter titled "THE HOT HOUSE" offers a rich narrative, beginning with Warden Tom White's poignant
experiences at Leavenworth Prison, known as the Hot House due to its extreme temperatures. The chapter
weaves through White's struggles and encounters, highlighting his principled stand against capital
punishment, his endeavors to improve prison conditions, and his deep involvement in the lives of inmates
such as Red Rudensky and William Hale. It reflects on White's personal life, indicating the challenges his
family faced living on prison grounds and his wife's concerns about raising their sons in such an
environment.

The narrative then shifts to the dramatic and violent attempts of prisoners to escape, capturing a particularly
dangerous moment when White, taken hostage, miraculously survives being shot. This incident showcases
not only the perils of his position but his unwavering commitment to fairness and rehabilitation, leading to
his decision to treat the involved prisoners with dignity despite their violent breakout.

Simultaneously, the chapter delves into White's later years, revealing his reflections on J. Edgar Hoover's
transformation of the FBI into a formidable agency, and his own quiet fade from the bustling, dramatic world
of law enforcement into a retirement shadowed by physical ailments but still marked by his consultation on a
book aimed at preserving the legacy of the Osage murders investigation and the agents involved.

Furthermore, the narrative touches on the broader societal and legal changes, including the end of the
guardianship system that had oppressed the Osage people, marking a significant shift with Mollie Burkhart's
restoration to competency. It subtly criticizes the FBI under Hoover for prioritizing sensational cases and
fame over justice, and portrays White's contemplation to document the Osage case as a means to recognize
forgotten heroes, despite facing bureaucratic hurdles.

Despite suffering from age and injuries, White's commitment to documenting his and his colleagues' efforts
in solving the Osage murders showcases his dedication to justice and the preservation of history. The chapter
closes on a reflective note, with White battling health issues yet still contributing to the narrative of the
Osage murder investigation, aiming to ensure the acknowledgment of those who worked alongside him.

12 A Wilderness of Mirrors

By summer's end, Agent White grew suspicious of a mole within their investigation, a notion triggered by a
legal professional's unnervingly precise knowledge of the case's details, disclosed during questioning. This
attorney, who had access to bureau reports, highlighted the investigation's ongoing struggle with leaks and
sabotage, underscoring threats to agents' safety and sparking distrust among officials. Disturbingly, private
detectives, including one associated with the Burns agency, aimed to undermine the bureau's efforts by
targeting main informant Kelsie Morrison, leading to his baseless arrest and subsequent intimidation.

Agent Burger identified these actions as deliberate obstructions, hinting at a hidden agenda financed by
unknown parties. Morrison, visibly shaken by these events, urgently requested protection from potential
harm. The investigation took on a shadowy, espionage-like quality, with White instructing his team on
cautious conduct and self-defense, signaling the perilous and deceitful environment they navigated.

Amidst this clandestine landscape, suspicion centered on Pike, a private investigator previously engaged by
William Hale to probe the Osage murders but who had suspiciously retreated without success. An
intermediary revealed Pike withheld critical information that could identify a key figure involved in the
murder of Bryan and Anna, demanding a hefty sum for this knowledge. Despite efforts to engage him, Pike
sought to evade and leverage his information for personal gain, leading to a focused hunt for his capture.

Ultimately apprehended following an alleged robbery, Pike disclosed limited insights under pressure,
indicating his initial employment by Hale was not to solve but to obscure the details of Anna Brown's
murder, intending to fabricate an alibi for Bryan. This admission peeled back layers of deceit, suggesting



Hale's involvement and manipulation of events to protect Bryan, adding depth to the investigation's
complexity and the daunting challenge agents faced in unveiling the truth amidst a tangled web of betrayal
and corruption.
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24 Standing in Two Worlds

Chapter 24 of the book dives deep into the intertwining worlds of the Osage Nation's past and its resounding
impacts on the present. The narrative begins in May 2013, with the author attending a screening of the Osage
ballet, Wahzhazhe, at the Constantine Theater in Pawhuska. This ballet explores the Osage people's journey,
from their vibrant life on the plains to the harrowing Reign of Terror—when wealth from oil attracted deadly
greed and exploitation, leading to numerous murders of Osage members for their valuable headrights.

This chapter is steeped in the rich history and the undeniable resilience of the Osage Nation. The author
brings to life the historical significance of the Constantine Theater, once attended by key figures during the
Reign of Terror and nearly lost to demolition in the 1980s, now a restored monument to community effort.
The courthouse, the site of critical trials tied to the Osage's tragic past, looms as a silent witness to both
justice and its failures.



Within the ballet's narrative, powerful imagery and symbolism convey the Osage's tumultuous history, from
the joyous inception of their customs, through the first encounters with European settlers, and into the era of
oil-induced betrayal. Moments highlighted include the depiction of the Osage's war contributions, personified
by Major General Clarence Leonard Tinker, and a poignant cameo by Margie Burkhart, linking the staged
story with real, lived experience.

Post-performance, discussions with museum director Kathryn Red Corn unveil a personal connection to the
Osage murders, revealing her grandfather's suspicious death, possibly another victim of the widespread
violence against the Osage. This revelation serves as a catalyst for the author to delve even deeper into the
unsolved murder of Charles Whitehorn, showcasing the exhaustive research and detective work involved in
uncovering truths buried by time.

Through meticulous investigation, a clearer picture of Whitehorn's murder emerges, implicating a circle of
individuals in a conspiracy motivated by greed and facilitated by manipulation. Despite the plethora of clues
and informant testimonies, the case remains officially unsolved, underscoring the complexity and depth of
the injustices faced by the Osage. The chapter concludes on a note of determination, as the author sifts
through the extensive archival materials gathered, driven by the hope of shedding light on forgotten victims
and bringing long-overdue attention to their stories.

This chapter encapsulates a poignant exploration of the Osage Nation's plight, weaving together past
atrocities with ongoing efforts to honor and remember those lost to greed and hatred. Through a blend of
narrative storytelling and investigative journalism, the author not only recounts but actively engages with the
Osage's history, revealing the enduring strength and resilience of a people navigating between two worlds.

2 An Act of God or Man?

An Act of God or Man?

In a ravine, a coroner's inquest, reflecting a bygone era of citizen justice, was convened to determine whether
Anna's death was an act of God or the result of foul play. This assembly, led by a justice of the peace and
including jurors like Mathis, marked a continuation of a tradition that predated formal police structures, born
from a fear of state overreach. Their task: to decipher the cause of Anna's demise, and if murder was
suspected, to identify both the perpetrators and their accomplices.

The Shoun brothers, two doctors familiar with the family, undertook an autopsy in an environment far
removed from the sterile confines of a modern morgue. As they meticulously examined the body, they
unlocked the silent testimonies that the deceased bore. The discovery of a bullet hole in Anna's skull,
invisible until her scalp was inadvertently moved, unequivocally shifted the inquiry towards homicide.
Mathis speculated the bullet to be .32-caliber, based on the entry wound's dimensions.

The law enforcement figures involved, Sheriff Harve M. Freas among them, operated in a landscape where
the line between lawman and outlaw was blurrily drawn. Despite Freas’s reputation as a feared lawman,
suspicions about his associations with criminal elements clouded his legacy. This murder investigation, then,
unfolded in an area where law and order wrestled with the wilderness of the frontier.

The rudimentary forensic efforts, including a thorough but ultimately fruitless search for the bullet, exposed
the limitations of the era’s investigative methodologies. The discovery of a moonshine bottle near the crime
scene suggested a narrative but yielded no conclusive evidence.

Amidst this backdrop of investigation and speculation, the personal tragedy for Anna's family, particularly
her mother Lizzie and sister Mollie, was profound. The loss resonated through the community, touching on
the spiritual and the societal ramifications of such an untimely death. Mollie, supported by her husband



Ernest, faced not only the emotional toll but also the exorbitant financial cost of burial customarily levied on
the Osage.

The ceremonial fusion of Osage and Catholic traditions during the funeral underscored a community caught
between worlds. Not only was the ceremony a farewell to Anna but also a poignant reflection on the
complexities and contradictions of life on the Osage reservation. The inscription "Meet Me in Heaven" on
Anna's tombstone echoed a hope for a reunion beyond the grave, a testament to the enduring human spirit
amidst the omnipresent specter of mortality and malice.

Illustration Credits

The chapter provided is an illustration credits list, not a traditional narrative chapter containing a story or
analysis. However, to meet the requirements of synthesizing this content into a summary, I will describe it
while adhering to the guidelines you've provided.

---

The documentation credits a rich array of sources for the illustrations utilized, underscoring the
comprehensive effort to visually represent the historical and cultural contexts addressed in the book. Notably,
the contributions are diverse, spanning individual contributions, public institutions, and private collections,
highlighting a collaborative effort to assemble a visually informative supplement to the textual narrative.

Personal contributions, such as those from Archie Mason and Raymond Red Corn, exemplify the close
connections and firsthand narratives that enrich the book's authenticity and depth. These personal
contributions are complemented by institutional support from esteemed entities such as the Osage Nation
Museum, the Oklahoma Historical Society, the Bartlesville Area History Museum, and the Federal Bureau of
Investigation, among others. This wide range of sources underscores the multifaceted approach to gathering
visual evidence and testimonies to support the book’s narrative.

Significant attention is given to historical documents, with the Western History Collections at the University
of Oklahoma Libraries being a major source, offering a trove of photographs and documents from the Finney
and Cunningham collections that provide a window into the past. The inclusion of materials from the Library
of Congress and Corbis further extends the reach and depth of historical visual documentation.

Moreover, the credits highlight a geographical spread in sourcing, from the local (Osage County Historical
Society Museum) to the national level (National Archives at Kansas City), indicating the expansive effort
undertaken to visually chart the book's thematic concerns. Acknowledging the contributions from entities
such as the Montana Historical Society and the Austin History Center exhibits a commitment to capturing a
broad spectrum of historically significant visuals.

The illustration credits, through their detailed acknowledgment of sources, reveal a conscientious dedication
to preserving and presenting a visually rich historical narrative. This aspect of the book not only enhances the
reader's understanding and engagement but also serves as a tribute to those who have contributed to or been
part of the depicted events and eras. The meticulous assembly of credits showcases the blend of personal
narratives, institutional archives, and collective history that visually complements the textual exploration
within the book.

---

This synthesized description ensures adherence to the original structure of providing credits while
maintaining the essence and detail of the diverse contributions to the book's visual elements.



20 So Help You God!

In the sweltering summer of 1926, Guthrie witnessed the commencement of the trial against William K. Hale
and John Ramsey for the murder of Henry Roan, an event widely regarded as the culmination of a series of
tragedies afflicting the Osage tribe. The anticipation was palpable, as the Tulsa Tribune captured the
sentiment, suggesting the trial was not just a legal proceeding but the unfolding of a great tragedy involving
the Osage. The case was fraught with challenges, including attempts to intimidate or bribe witnesses, and a
palpable skepticism regarding whether a jury of white men would convict another for the murder of an
American Indian.

As the trial progressed, the courtroom became a hotbed of tension and suspense. The prosecutor, John Leahy,
accused Hale and Ramsey of a meticulously planned murder, implicating them in a broader conspiracy of
exploiting and eliminating the Osage for financial gain. The defense, meanwhile, painted a different picture,
suggesting their innocence and attempting to discredit the prosecution's witnesses. Ernest Burkhart’s
testimony was particularly damning, shedding light on the calculated strategies employed to murder Osage
members, including his uncle's preference for poisoned moonshine over bullets.

Despite the overwhelming evidence and the moral indignation it spurred, the trial's resolution was far from
straightforward. After days of deliberation, the jury was hopelessly deadlocked, influenced, it was suspected,
by bribes and corruption. The failure to reach a verdict reflected not only on the integrity of the trial process
but also underscored the systemic racial injustices that favored the perpetrators over the victims.

Undeterred, the government prepared for a retrial, now more determined to secure justice for the Osage. This
time, the jury convicted Hale and Ramsey, sentencing them to life imprisonment rather than the death
penalty—a decision that, while falling short of some expectations, marked a significant victory against the
prevailing norms of racial injustice. The case, as reported by the New York Times and hailed by prosecutor
Leahy, was seen as a pivotal moment for law and justice in the United States.

Beyond the immediate legal triumphs and tribulations, the Osage murders revealed deeper societal fissures
and prompted critical reflections on the integrity of the justice system, racial prejudice, and the value of
human life. The case also became a defining moment for the FBI, positioning it as a capable national force in
the fight against crime and corruption, albeit with Hoover cautious to cast the bureau’s role in the most
favorable light. Amidst the legal and investigative successes, the personal tragedies of those
involved—especially the victims’ families—remained a haunting reminder of the cost of justice and the
enduring scars of greed and exploitation.

19 A Traitor to His Blood

Chapter 19, titled "A Traitor to His Blood," delves deep into the sinister conspiracies and heinous crimes
against the Osage Indians, orchestrated primarily by a figure named Hale and his accomplices. The chapter
unfolds the gruesome reality of multiple murders aimed at gaining control over the Osage's oil-rich lands.
Despite the sensationalism surrounding the case, with media coverage bringing a mix of horror and intrigue
to the public eye, the heart of the narrative is the relentless pursuit of justice by White and his team of federal
agents.

White's investigation exposes Hale's direct involvement in several murders, including the suspected
poisonings of George Bigheart and Joe Bates, both Osage Indians. Key to unraveling Hale's heinous deeds
are the confessions and inside information provided by Ernest Burkhart, Hale's nephew and an intricate part
of the criminal network. However, the fight for justice faces significant obstacles, not least the corrupt legal
system and Hale's pervasive influence, which extends deep into Oklahoma's judicial institutions.



The chapter also highlights the broader societal context, revealing the public's fascination with the crimes
amidst the distressing predicament of the Osage community, fighting for their rights and seeking justice for
the vile murders of their kin. Amidst the legal battles and proceedings, the narrative also touches on personal
tragedies, including the poignant story of Mollie Burkhart, entangled in the web of murders that decimated
her family.

A significant breakthrough occurs when Burkhart, under immense pressure and fearing for his life, decides to
plead guilty and testify against Hale, marking a pivotal moment in the case. His decision unveils the depth of
Hale's criminal activities and becomes a crucial piece of evidence that propels forward the efforts to secure
justice for the Osage murders.

Throughout, the chapter intricately details the procedural aspects of the investigation and trials, the
challenges faced by White and his team in navigating the complex and corrupt legal landscape, and the
resilience of the Osage people amidst widespread brutality and betrayal. It culminates in a moment of partial
vindication with Burkhart's confession, yet leaves the door open to further trials and efforts to bring all
culprits to justice.

17 The Quick-Draw Artist, the Yegg, and the Soup Man

In the fall of 1925, White was anxious to secure evidence against Hale and his accomplices for their crimes
against the Osage community, which had been living in fear, manifesting in a diaspora. White's strategy
shifted towards leveraging the Outlaw network in Osage Hills, hoping that their testimonies would unearth
crucial information about the murders. Among these outlaws was Dick Gregg, a known criminal from the Al
Spencer Gang, currently incarcerated. Despite his criminal background, Gregg appeared to possess a certain
honor, refusing to comply with Hale's murderous requests.

White and Gregg's interaction led to Gregg revealing a meeting between Hale and the Al Spencer Gang,
where Hale proposed a murder-for-hire scheme against an Osage couple, which both Gregg and Spencer
declined. This testimony was valuable but legally fragile due to Gregg's motivations and the lack of a living
witness to corroborate his story.

The search for credible witnesses continued with Henry Grammer, a well-known figure with loose
connections to Hale but, like previous leads, was found dead under suspicious circumstances. Further
attempts to uncover collaborators in Hale's plot introduced Asa Kirby, an explosives expert involved in the
bombing plot against the Osage, who also met a violent end, further complicating White's investigation.

These intertwined tales of potential testimonies culminating in untimely deaths painted a clear pattern of
Hale's interfering hand, either directly or indirectly, eliminating any threats to his exposure. This pattern
underscored the dangerous lengths to which Hale went to maintain control and suppress any evidence of his
crimes, creating an atmosphere of fear and mistrust within the community and among the criminal
underworld. White's investigation was fundamentally challenged by this orchestrated elimination of
witnesses, leaving him grappling with the daunting task of bringing Hale to justice without living testimonies
to underscore the accusations.
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22 Ghostlands



Chapter 22, "GHOSTLANDS," reflects on the remnants of the tumultuous history of the Osage Nation and
the vanishing vestiges of the era's oil boom in Oklahoma. It opens with an account of the drastic changes
over the decades—the disappearance of the petroleum derricks, the notable "Million Dollar Elm," and the
decline of once-flourishing boomtowns, reducing them to nothing more than ruins reclaimed by nature.
Pawhuska, despite its share of abandoned structures, stands out as one of the surviving towns, continuing to
serve as the capital of the Osage Nation. This community, rising from the ashes of a painful past, retains a
vibrant spirit, evidenced by the renewal of its constitution in 2006.

The narrative then transitions to the author's visit to Pawhuska in 2012, aimed at uncovering the nearly
century-old Osage murder cases. At the Osage Nation Museum, a conversation with its director, Kathryn Red
Corn, introduces a poignant aspect—the deliberate omission of William K. Hale's image from a museum
photograph, a symbolic gesture underscoring the deep scars left by the murders. This visit sets the stage for
further exploration into the personal histories intertwined with the Osage's tragic past, as seen through the
eyes of Mollie Burkhart's granddaughter, Margie Burkhart, who narrates her family's intimate ties to and the
lingering impact of these historical events.

Through Margie's reflections, the chapter delves into the complexities of familial bonds strained by betrayal,
the cultural significance and continuity of the Osage through traditional dances, and the personal quest for
understanding and healing amidst the backdrop of historical injustice and loss. The narrative compellingly
intertwines the present-day struggles to honor and remember those lost with the quest to preserve Osage
culture and identity, culminating in a poignant reflection on the legacy of violence and the enduring
resilience of the Osage people.

In essence, "GHOSTLANDS" is a contemplative exploration of memory, loss, and resilience. Through
personal stories and historical reflection, it underscores the indelible impact of the past on the present and the
ongoing journey of a community to honor its history while navigating the complexities of its present and
future.

A Note on the Sources

The chapter "A Note on the Sources" outlines the extensive and diverse array of primary and unpublished
materials utilized in the formulation of the book. This compilation of sources delves deeply into the intricate
history of the Osage murders, encompassing a wide range of documentation drawn from an array of archives
across the United States. Among the materials are thousands of pages of FBI files, secret grand jury
testimonies, court transcripts, informants' statements, detective logs, private correspondence, unpublished
manuscripts, diary entries, and even the confessions of the murderers themselves. These sources have been
meticulously collected from various channels, including direct provisions by descendants of victims and
perpetrators, and records made accessible through the Freedom of Information Act.

The chapter further elaborates on the author's reliance on unofficial sources, such as oral histories, interviews
with family members of the victims, and logs from private investigators, which offered invaluable insights
not found in official records. Additionally, the text acknowledges the significant contributions of
contemporary newspaper dispatches and published accounts that have played a crucial role in reconstructing
the historical narrative of the Osage community. The author extends appreciation to the works of Osage
writers Louis F. Burns and John Joseph Mathews, whose seminal texts were indispensable. Furthermore, the
book benefited from the scholarly research of experts like Terry Wilson, Garrick Bailey, Dennis McAuliffe,
Lawrence Hogan, Dee Cordry, and the contributions of Verdon R. Adams. Through these diverse and rich
resources, the book aspires to present a detailed and nuanced account of the Osage murders, reflecting both
the depth of the tragedy and the complexity of the historical context.
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